#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## NORMAN MEARLE GRIM, JR.,

	Appellant,		
V.		Case No.	SC01-256

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0271543
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## **

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The Appellant, Norman Grim, wants to die. That makes this an unusual capital case. He was convicted of committing a first degree murder and sexual battery, but he refused to let his attorney present any mitigating evidence or argument at the penalty phase hearing. Hence, that proceeding was severely truncated, and only the State presented its case for aggravation. The Record on Appeal consists of nine volumes, and references to it will be in the form (VV R PPP), where VV is the volume number and PPP is the page in that volume.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Santa Rosa County on August 26, 1998 charged the Appellant, Norman Grim, with one count of first degree murder and one count of sexual battery with a weapon (1 R 9-12). He pled not guilty to those offenses (1 R 13), and the State later filed a notice that it intended to seek the death penalty if he was convicted of the murder (1 R 18). Later, at his request, the court appointed Dr. James Larson, a psychologist, to evaluate his competency and sanity (1 R 48-49, 50-53, 94-96). Grim or the State also filed the following motions or notices relevant to this appeal:

- Notice on Defendant's Statements and Motion to Determine voluntariness (1 R 100-103). Denied (2 R 202-205)
- 2. Notice of Intent [by the defendant] to Introduce Victim Hearsay Statements (1 R 132-33). The court refused to let Grim introduce the hearsay (2 R 206-210).
- 3. Motion to Suppress evidence obtained through a search of Grim's home (1 R 134-35). Denied (1 R 200-201).
- 4. Notice of Intent to Present Expert Testimony of Mental Mitigation Pursuant to Rule 3.202, Fla. R. Crim. P.

Almost from the beginning of this case, Grim indicated he wanted to waive his right to present any mitigating evidence should his case proceed to the penalty

phase hearing. Shortly before his trial began, the court, following the procedure outlined by this Court in Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993), found that he had made a valid waiver of the right, and it heard what mitigation Grim's penalty phase lawyer believed he could prove (2 R 211-15). The defendant proceeded to trial before Judge Kenneth Bell, and after the jury had heard the evidence, argument, and law, it found the defendant guilty as charged on both counts (2 R 219).

Accordingly, he proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial, and the state presented evidence of, and the court would eventually found it had proven, the following aggravators:

- 1. At the time of the murder, Grim was on parole.
- 2. The defendant had several convictions for violent felonies although they had occurred in 1981 or 1982.
  - 3. Grim committed a sexual battery at the time of the murder.

The prosecutor gave a closing argument at the penalty phase, but Grim's lawyer remained silent. Predictably, the jury unanimously recommended he receive the death penalty (2 R 220).

Although Grim had waived presenting mitigation, the court considered a Presentence Investigation Report (PSI), and it appointed Mr. Spiro Kypreos as special

counsel to present any mitigating evidence at the subsequent <u>Spencer</u><sup>1</sup> hearing (2 R 221-22). He did, arguing specifically that the two statutory mental mitigators applied (4 R 594-615). The court rejected finding he had established them, but it concluded he had proven several other nonstatutory factors that mitigated a death sentence:

- 1. The defendant had an abusive childhood. Significant weight.
- 2. The defendant was a "skilled, punctual, dependable, good and hard worker who had some supervisory responsibility." Significant weight.
- 3. Mental problems of a smaller degree than the statutory mental mitigators.

  Great Weight.
  - 4. Stress due to marital problems. Great weight.
- 5. Despite his good qualities, Grim "is given to appalling errors of judgment when under stress." Recognized but given no additional weight.
  - 6. The defendant might be a good inmate in the future. Some weight.
  - 7. The defendant entered the prison system at a young age. Little weight.

Besides rejecting the statutory mental mitigators, the court gave no weight, because they were not established, to his history of alcohol use and his lack of needed long term psychiatric care (2 R 244-45).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

The court found the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation, and it sentenced Grim to death for the first degree murder, and it imposed a sentence of 32 years in prison for the sexual battery, to be served consecutively to the death sentence (2 R 250-55).

This required appeal follows.

(2 R 240-46)

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Cynthia Campbell was a lawyer, and on July 27, 1998, she was a busy one that had enemies. About five in the morning someone threw a lug nut through one of her windows (6 R 274). She called the police and within a short time they appeared. They found the nut, observed the broken window, and found another window with a torn screen (6 R 274).

Norman Grim lived next to her her, and he had three dogs that began barking when the police showed up (6 R 274). He also got up, and walked to Campbell's house to see what was going on (6 R 273). Nothing much happened, and he invited Campbell over for some coffee (6 R 276). She demurred, and Grim went back home. As the police officer was talking with her, a large tree branch snapped off, sounding like a gun (6 R 280). It hit her car. Alarmed, the officer went outside. Grim also came back, and, after discovering the innocent explanation renewed his invitation for coffee (6 R 281). This time, she accepted (6 R 281), and within minutes the police had left her home (6 R 282).

Now, Campbell had a 7:30 appointment with her bookkeeper (6 R 290). She also had an 8 a.m. meeting with her new secretary or paralegal (6 R 290, 295). When the lawyer failed to show up for the first meeting the bookkeeper went to her home (6 R 290). The front door was open, the lights were on, and her car was

there (6 R 291). She went inside and called for her, but got no response (6 R 291). Similarly, the new paralegal also went to her home about 9 a.m., and within a few minutes, Grim also came to the house. Concerned, she eventually called the police (6 R 292). When they arrived, they completed a missing persons report (6 R 297). They also asked to search the defendant's house, and after initially balking, he let them walk through it (6 R 304). They noticed he had a pink color<sup>2</sup> on one shoulder (Grim told one officer that it was paint primer he had used on his car (6 R 348)), saw some black drops on the floor, but otherwise saw nothing suspicious in the house (6 R 305). They saw no blood on the floors or any other signs of a struggle (6 R 330). One officer noticed the defendant had several small reddish brown stains on the shorts he wore, and his left arm had a "tan line from a watch." (6 R 337). After conducting a room by room search, they went outside. They saw a gate that had evidently not been used for a while, and which appeared as if it had been recently pushed open (6 R 321). They peered inside his car, but again found nothing that raised their suspicions. When they asked to look inside the trunk, Grim said he did not have the key to it (6 R 325).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> One officer would describe it as "reddish brown." (6 R 337)

By this time, Grim's dogs had gotten loose, and he asked the police if he go get them (6 R 337). He got in his car and drove away. An officer followed but eventually lost him, and the defendant never returned to his house (6 R 338).

About 1 p.m. a woman who used to work with Grim saw him near his car at a fishing bridge in Pensacola (7 R 461). The trunk was open, as were both doors (7 R 462). Two hours later a man fishing nearby snagged what was later determined to be the body of Cynthia Campbell. It was wrapped in a sheet similar to those owned by Grim (7 R 510), a rug similar to scraps his parents had given him (7 R 508, 540), a rope similar to that found in Grim's house (7 R 543), masking tape that matched that also found in the defendant's house (7 R 547), and plastic garbage bags similar to those he had in his house (7 R 412).

Subsequently, the police got a search warrant to search Grim's house. This time, they found evidence of Campbell's blood in the kitchen and dining room (7 R 409, 416, 419, 8 R 618-19). They also seized a cooler that had bloodied sheets, a claw hammer, a pair of glasses that belonged to the victim (7 R 525), and a watch with a torn band (6 R 400). They also lifted the victim's fingerprints from a coffee cup seen in Grim's kitchen (8 R 667).

Campbell had been hit with a blunt instrument, perhaps a hammer, 18 times about the head, fracturing her skull (7 R 579-81). She had been stabbed at least

eleven times, with seven of those wounds being to the heart (7 R 583), and she had "defensive wounds" on her left hand (7 R 575). She also had a large laceration of "the undersurface and the back of the vagina." (7 R 585)

Grim was arrested three days later at Watonga, Oklahoma where his father lived (7 R 484-85).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Grim refuse **USE** His penalty phase lawyer present any evidence or argument to mitigate a death sentence. Accordingly, the penalty phase hearing amounted only to the State presenting evidence of three aggravating factors. Predictably, the jury unanimously recommended that Grim die. The trial court appointed Mr. Spiro Kypreos to act as special counsel to present any mitigating evidence he could find . It also ordered and considered a Presentence Investigation Report. Despite the abundance of mitigation found, presented, and argued at that final hearing, the trial court, giving great weight to the jury's death recommendation, sentenced Grim to death. This Court, however, has recently said that in a similar situation, where the defendant refused to present any mitigation, the trial court cannot give the jury's death recommendation the normal "great weight" it deserves. In this case, however, Grim never waived his right to a jury recommendation, which meant the court had to consider its verdict. Yet, that decision could achieve legitimacy only if it heard the same evidence as that which was available to the trial court. This means that what Mr. Kypreos presented to the court at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing should have been also given to the jury. That it was not was error.

Immediates State trial began, the court learned that Grim intended to waive his right to present mitigation during any possible penalty phase proceeding in his case. The

court, following the procedure set out by this Court in <u>Koon v. Dugger</u>, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla.1993), asked Mr. Michael Rollo, Grim's penalty phase attorney what mitigation he believed he could prove. Among the several factors he subsequently listed, he particularly said that he believed that Dr. James Larson, the psychologist appointed to assist the defense, would testify that both statutory mental mitigators applied.

At the later <u>Spencer</u> hearing, Mr. Spiro Kypreos relied on Dr. Larson's deposition, which made no mention of any of the mental mitigators. Indeed, he never said anything about this expert's ability to establish that at the time of the murder Grim was under the influence of an extreme emotional disturbance and that his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired. The court, however, knew what Dr Larson allegedly would have said, and it therefore should have called him as its witness to establish those two mitigators. That it failed to do so was particularly significant here because it later rejected finding their existence.

The court refus**ESD Telli**rim present evidence that someone, shortly before Cynthia Campbell was murdered, threatened her life. In response to those threats, she told her secretary, that "If she were ever found floating in the bay look to Henry Homes."

Such evidence, which was Grim's only defense, was relevant to show that

someone other than the defendant may have murdered her. Significantly increasing the likelihood of their veracity, other evidence corroborated what Ms. Campbell had said, so the court erred in refusing to let the jury hear Grim's defense.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## **ISSUE I**

THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING THE JURY'S DEATH RECOMMENDATION GREAT WEIGHT BECAUSE, IN LIGHT OF THE EXTENSIVE **MITIGATION** PRESENTED AFTER IT HAD RECEIVED THAT RECOMMENDATION, IT DESERVED LITTLE OR NO CONSIDERATION, A VIOLATION OF PROCEDURE SET FORTH IN SECTION 921.141 FLORIDA **STATUTES** AND THE **EIGHTH** AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Almost from the start of this case, Grim has said, at least to his lawyers, that he wanted no mitigation presented to justify sentencing him to life in prison (2 R 211-12, 4 R 15, 20). He intended to mount an all or nothing defense in the guilt phase of his trial, but if convicted, he wanted to be executed rather than spend the rest of his life in prison (4 R 21-22). This attitude came to the court's attention on October 27, 2000, the first day of trial, when Mr. Michael Rollo, the lawyer appointed to represent Grim for any possible penalty phase hearing, gave the court a written notice of the "defendant's waiver of presentation of mitigation evidence in the penalty phase." (2 R 211-15). Rather than proceeding to voir dire, as would normally have been done, the court held an extensive hearing on what Grim wanted to do and what it should do. Understandably, the trial judge, the prosecution, and defense counsel were hesitant to rush into solving this unusual

problem. They correctly concluded that the court had to consider whatever mitigation apparently existed. Relying on this Court's opinion in Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993) and Chandler v State, 702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1997), the court asked Mr. Rollo what mitigation he had found. He said that Dr. Larson, the court appointed forensic psychologist, would provide testimony that supported finding the two statutory mental mitigators. That is, at the time of the murder Grim acted under the influence of an extreme emotional disturbance, and his ability to appreciate the criminality of conduct was substantially impaired (4 R 12-13). Dr. Larson would also provide testimony to support other, nonstatutory mitigation (4 R 15). Additionally, Mr. Grim had worked for some time at a plant that made metal tool boxes, and he was a good employee (4 R 16-17). Counsel had also talked with the defendant's mother who described her son as having "somewhat of a chaotic childhood." (4 R 17). His father was alcoholic, distant, and never had a close relationship with his son (4 R 17). Finally, at the time of the murder, Grim was going through a divorce, which created its own emotional stress (4 R 18).

The court, extensively questioned the defendant about the voluntariness of what he was doing and whether he was making an intelligent decision (4 R 550-54)

Specifically, it told him "You have the absolute right under Florida law and statute to waive that jury advisory sentencing. Do you understand that?" Grim said he

did, but as matters turned out, he never waived it (5 R 27). The court then found that "Mr. Grim has freely, voluntarily and knowingly made the decision to waive the presentment to the jury of mitigation evidence in this case, and his right to a jury's advice and recommendation of life and death, and he has the absolute right to do that under Florida Statute and applicable case law." (4 R 33-34).

The court also said that once the jury had returned its sentencing recommendation "I want to go back on the record to discuss in more detail the statutory mitigators and non-statutory mitigators that we weren't able to discuss as fully here." (4 R 34)

Accordingly, after the jury had unanimously recommended the court sentence Grim to death, it revisited the absence of any mitigation at the very truncated penalty phase hearing. Specifically, on November 2, 2000, it appointed Mr. Spiro Kypreos as special counsel "to present mitigating evidence at this <u>Spencer</u> hearing. He will represent the public interest in bringing forth appropriate mitigating evidence to be considered by the Court in its sentencing decision." (2 R 221)<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Early in the proceedings of this case the court had also appointed counsel to represent Mr. Grim for the penalty phase portion of the trial, if necessary (1 R 78). Acceding to the wishes of his client, he presented nothing in mitigation (9 R891, 894, 897).

On November 7, 2000, Mr. Kypreos presented the following evidence:

- 1. Dr. Larson, the psychologist appointed as a confidential expert, and via deposition, said that Grim suffered from and had been treated for "intermittent explosive disorder." (4 R 569) A 1982 psychological report foreshadowed that diagnosis (4 R 570, 601).
- 2. Grim worked at a plant that made metal boxes. His shift supervisor said the defendant had worked for him as a "leadman in our fabrication department" for a little over a year (of the four years he had worked at the plant), and during that time he had performed his duties "good to excellent." (4 R 575, 579) He supervised from six to 12 persons, was never a disciplinary problem, and was productive (4 R 576-77, 581).
- 3. His sister, who was very hostile to Mr. Kypreos at the hearing, said she was close to her brother, and they went to church regularly (4 R 584). She also said he had served in the Navy, and was proud to have done so (4 R 588).
- 4. Special counsel also introduced a 1982 psychiatric evaluation done of Grim, and a PSI done in 1983.
- 5. Mr. Kypreos, besides presenting evidence to mitigate a death sentence, wove together the extensive mitigation and applicable law and argued that this case was not one of the "worst of the worst." (4 R 592-613).

The court accepted the mitigating evidence Mr. Kypreos presented and most of it found its way into the court's sentencing order as mitigating factors with the notable exception that the court refused to find the two statutory mental mitigators (2 R 243). It did, however, consider Dr. Larson's deposition testimony as nonstatutory mitigation. In brief, it found the following evidence, none of which the jury had heard, as mitigating a death sentence:

- 1. Grim had a disruptive and abusive childhood. Great weight.
- 2. He had been a valued, dependable worker for the four years before the murder. Significant weight.
- 3. Grim suffers from an intermittent explosive disorder, depressive disorder and antisocial personality disorder. Very significant and given great weight.
- 4. His marriage was dissolving at the time of the murder, he had sought psychiatric help, and was taking medication. Great weight.
  - 5. The evidence suggested that he would be a good inmate. Some weight.
- 6. Grim was sent to prison in 1983 when he was young-22. Little weight. (2 R 240-46)

When we look at what the court did with the individual sentencing problems that arose in this case, it is hard to make any good faith argument that it erred in sentencing Grim to death. When we look at the "totality of the circumstances,"

however, the inescapable conclusion emerges that the trial court fundamentally erred in finding he deserved to die. This in no way castigates the trial court's sincere desire to impose a just punishment. Grim, or rather his appellate counsel, argues that the trial court, applying two procedures this Court has fashioned to remedy specific problems, inadvertently created a situation in which the jury's recommendation of death deserves far less than the great weight this Court has said such verdicts deserve. Then, without any valid guidance from this voice of the community, the court sentenced Grim to death. In doing this, the trial judge violated Florida's death penalty statute, Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, and the proscriptions developed under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. As such, its error amounts to a misapplication of a rule of law, and it is subject to a de novo review by this Court.

This novel argument arises directly and by implication from opinions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court. First, the overarching consideration in this area of the law focuses on the reliability or justness of imposing a capital sentence on a defendant found guilty of committing a first degree murder. See, e.g., Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154, 172 (1994)(Souter, concurring.) To enhance the reliability of a finding of death this Court has created an additional procedure the trial court must follow after it has received the jury's

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