IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORMAN MEARLE GRIM, JR.,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. SC01-256

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

1. The trial court in this case followed all procedures necessary in cases where the defendant decides to waive mitigation. In fact, the trial court did more than what is minimally required. Although not required to do so at the time, the trial court did as this Court later suggested in Muhammad and ordered a PSI. In addition, the trial court appointed special counsel to investigate and present evidence in mitigation. Although Grim's appellate counsel suggests in the caption to his argument that the trial court in this case committed the same error as the trial court in

the <u>Muhammad</u> case by giving great weight to the jury's recommendation even though the jury heard no mitigation, in fact, the trial court weighed the evidence in aggravation independently. This Court should reject the suggestion of Grim's appellate counsel that appointment of special counsel should be required when the defendant waives mitigation, and should reject his contention that the trial court erred by not appointing special counsel before the jury sentencing hearing.

- 2. Although Grim's trial counsel made a limited waiver of privilege when they allowed the State to depose psychologist Dr. Larson several months prior to trial, Grim never waived his privilege and strenuously objected to any use of Dr. Larson at the penalty phase. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to call Dr. Larson sua sponte, especially where it is clear that Grim would have refused to cooperate with any evaluation by an expert of the State's choosing.
- 3. Especially absent identification of the person who supposedly had threatened the victim, or any other evidence tying Henry Homes in any way whatsoever to this murder, or any sufficient foundation for admitting hearsay statements as spontaneous or excited utterances of the victim, the trial court did not err in excluding hearsay testimony that some unidentified person possibly connected to Henry Homes had threatened the victim. Moreover, in

light of overwhelming evidence that Grim is guilty of Campbell's murder, any error in excluding this hearsay testimony was harmless.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

ALTHOUGH RECOGNIZING THE USUAL OBLIGATION TO THEJURY'S SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION GREAT WEIGHT, THE TRIAL COURT INDEPENDENTLY AGGRAVATING WEIGHED AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, THEREFORE AVOIDING THE ERROR COMMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN MUHAMMAD V. STATE, AS GRIM CONCEDES. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT GRIM'S ARGUMENT THAT MUHAMMAD DOES NOT GO FAR ENOUGH, AND THAT TRIAL COURTS SHOULD BE REQUIRED NOT ONLY TO APPOINT SPECIAL COUNSEL, BUT TO DO SO PRIOR TO THE JURY PENALTY HEARING.

The caption to appellate counsel's argument is misleading; he appears to be arguing that the trial court committed the same error as the trial judge in <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 782 So.2d 343 (Fla. 2001), by giving the jury's death recommendation great weight even though the jury heard no mitigation because of Grim's waiver. However, that is not what the trial court in this case did, as Grim's appellate counsel eventually concedes, ten pages into his argument. Initial Brief of Appellant at 24-25 (trial court "reached the correct result because it did all this Court said needed to be done" in <u>Muhammad</u>). Appellate counsel acknowledges that the trial court not only ordered a PSI, but appointed special counsel to investigate and present mitigation to the trial court at the sentencing hearing. His complaint is that <u>Muhammad</u> inadequately addresses the issue; he asks this Court to further extend the trial

court's obligation and not only require the appointment of special counsel to present mitigation (which <u>Muhammad</u> does not do), but require special counsel to present evidence to the jury.

"This Court has repeatedly recognized the right of a competent defendant to waive presentation of mitigating evidence." Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175, 177 n. 2 (Fla. 1996). In cases where a defendant waives the presentation of mitigating evidence, this Court has required defense counsel to comply with the procedure set out in Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246, 250 (Fla. 1993). Grim's appellate counsel does not dispute that these procedures were followed in this case, and they clearly were (1T 3-34, 5T 812-64).

In addition, the trial court must consider and evaluate mitigating evidence contained in the record, even when the defendant waives the presentation of mitigation, and even if the defendant objects to the presentation of mitigating evidence. Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993). Grim's appellate counsel does not complain about any noncompliance with Farr, and it is obvious from a review of the trial court's sentencing order that the trial court fully considered and carefully evaluated all mitigation reasonably shown by the record.

Moreover, although not required to do so, the trial court ordered a pre-sentence investigation. Thus, the trial court's actions satisfy even the prospective procedure announced in <u>Muhammad</u> that, henceforth, "the preparation of a PSI [will be

required] in every case where the defendant is not challenging the imposition of the death penalty and refuses to present mitigation evidence." 782 So.2d at 363. 11

Moreover, the trial court in this case did not make the mistake that the court in <u>Muhammad</u> did. There, the trial court gave "great weight" to the jury's death recommendation notwithstanding that the jury had heard none of the mitigation later presented to the court by way of the PSI which the trial court had ordered. Here, the trial court considered the jury's recommendation, but independently weighed the evidence. The Court stated:

In reaching its sentencing decision and in analyzing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, this Court has remained cognizant of several significant points. First, as a general matter of law, a jury's recommendation of life or death must be given great weight. The jury in this case unanimously recommended death, but it did not have the benefit of receiving mitigating evidence from the Defendant or the benefit of counsel arguing the evidence applicable law. Thus, in reaching its sentencing decision, this Court has assiduously followed the two separate paths recognized by law. It has duly considered the jury recommendation. But is has independently weighed the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Both paths have led to the same point.

(2R 237).

 $^{^{11}}$ Because this requirement was established prospectively, it does not apply in this case, which was tried but not decided on appeal at the time $\underline{\text{Muhammad}}$ was entered.

Grim's appellate counsel appears to concede that the trial court satisfied all concerns expressed in Muhammad. 12 He certainly concedes that the trial court ultimately "reached the correct result" under Muhammad. Initial Brief of Appellant at 24-25. The issue he presents and argues on this appeal is whether Muhammad goes far enough. Grim's appellate counsel takes issue with this Court's continuing rejection of any requirement that the trial court must appoint special counsel to investigate and present mitigation and asks this Court not only to require appointment, but to require the presentation of mitigation by the special counsel to the jury. Although acknowledging that the trial court did in this case appoint special counsel to present mitigation, Grim's appellate counsel asserts that presentation of that mitigation only to the judge was insufficient, inasmuch as Grim never waived his right to a jury recommendation. Brief at 27.

The State would first note that Grim told his trial counsel that he did not care if there was any presentation to the jury and that he "would waive that altogether" (5T 815). He also stated to

¹² He does, however, state that the trial court "may have given the jury's recommendation more weight than it deserved." Initial Brief of Appellant at 24. The State disagrees. It seems obvious that the trial court evaluated the evidence giving some deference to the jury's recommendation and also evaluated the evidence giving no deference to the jury's recommendation. The court reached the same conclusion both ways. Which path the trial court might ultimately have chosen if the two evaluations had resulted in two different conclusions is a moot point.

the court that he was ready to waive a penalty phase before the jury (5T 819). The penalty hearing before the jury went forward only because the court insisted, not because Grim was unwilling to waive it (5T 822-23). 13

Secondly, this Court has consistently rejected suggestions that trial courts should be required to appoint special counsel for a defendant who waives mitigation. Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988); Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993); Hauser v. State, 701 So.2d 329 (Fla. 1997); Muhammad v. State, supra. This Court has left such appointment to the discretion of the trial court. The trial court in this case went beyond what was required by exercising its discretion to appoint special counsel to investigate and present mitigation to the court, over the defendant's objection. The court committed no error under this Court's precedents by failing to go even further beyond what was required and to order special counsel to present mitigation to the jury.

The record in this case is more than adequate to satisfy any concerns this Court expressed in <u>Muhammad</u> about having a sufficient record to conduct a proportionality review by comparing "the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in this case to those present in other death penalty cases." <u>Id</u>. at 365. See, also,

¹³ This Court has held that the trial court may require an advisory jury recommendation even where the defendant waives such. Muhammed, supra at 361, and cases cited therein.

Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323, 331 (Fla. 1995) (defendant's waiver of mitigation does not preclude this Court's required proportionality review). 14 The trial court satisfied the concerns expressed in Muhammad, and Grim's appellate counsel has not shown any sufficient reason to impose additional requirements on trial courts.

<u>Issue II</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO CALL DR. LARSON AS ITS OWN WITNESS OVER GRIM'S OBJECTION AND REFUSAL TO WAIVE HIS PRIVILEGE

As noted earlier, in <u>Koon v. Dugger</u>, 619 So.2d 246, 250 (Fla. 1993), this Court established the rule to be applied when a

¹⁴ That is not to say that the record would not have been different if Grim had not waived mitigation. For example, because Grim refused to waive his privilege, some mental health evidence was unavailable to special counsel. Moreover, an uncooperative defendant can always curtail to some extent any investigation of his background simply by refusing to cooperate or provide necessary information from which additional mitigation might be adduced. However, a defendant cannot be forced into an adversarial position, or to cooperate with his attorneys or the court. The answer to any suggestion that this Court's "independent review" of a defendant's death sentence is "thwarted" when a defendant refuses to cooperate, Muhammad, supra at 369 (Pariente, J., specially concurring), is: (a) the defendant may not simply volunteer for death because he is ineligible for a death sentence unless the State first proves his quilt of first degree murder and establishes at least one statutory aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt and (b) in any event, a valid capital punishment scheme need not achieve perfect consistency. Pulley v. Harris, 465 U.S. 37, 54 (proportionality review not constitutionally required; while risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action must be suitably limited, "capital sentencing scheme may occasionally produce aberrational outcomes; " such inconsistencies "are a far cry from the major systemic defects identified in Furman"). See also Conner v. State, 303 S.E.2d 266, 273-74 (Ga. 1983) (arbitrariness cannot be wholly eliminated).

defendant, against his counsel's advice, decides to waive mitigation:

When a defendant, against his counsel's advice, refuses to permit the presentation of mitigating evidence in the penalty phase, counsel must inform the court on the record of the defendant's decision. Counsel must indicate whether, based on his investigation, he reasonably believes there to be mitigating evidence that could be presented and what that evidence would be. The court should then require the defendant to confirm on the record that his counsel has discussed these matters him, and despite counsel's recommendation, he wishes to presentation of penalty phase evidence.

The purpose of this procedure is simply to ensure that the record adequately reflects that the defendant is making an informed waiver of his right to present mitigation, in that counsel has investigated mitigation, evaluated that mitigation, and properly advised his client. Counsel's statements to the trial court in compliance with the <u>Koon</u> rule are not themselves evidence in mitigation, but merely a proffer to the court for its determination of whether the defendant is making a knowing, voluntary and intelligent decision, as the trial court recognized (5T 826-27). 15

In this case, trial counsel informed the court that Grim had been evaluated by Dr. Larson, who was of the view that the two statutory mental mitigators would be applicable to this murder (1T

¹⁵ If such a proffer were evidence in mitigation, counsel would be presenting mitigation in direct contradiction to his client's wishes. <u>Cf. Nixon v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 618 (Fla. 2000) ("the defendant, not the attorney, is the captain of the ship").

13). Grim's appellate counsel contends that Dr. Larson should have been called as a court witness to testify about this alleged mitigation. He dismisses "the problem of confidentiality" as "easily resolved," because trial counsel waived Grim's privilege at the outset of Dr. Larson's deposition, and neither trial counsel nor Grim objected to the State's proffer of this deposition at the Spencer hearing. Initial Brief of appellant at 31-32.

Although this Court did suggest in <u>Muhammad</u> that the trial court "has the discretion to call persons with mitigating evidence as its own witnesses," 782 So.2d at 364, this Court did not say that the trial court was required to do so. This Court especially did not hold that the trial court could call a witness in violation of the defendant's privileges or confidences. And the fact is that under Florida law, communications between a psychologist and his client are privileged and confidential. Sections 490.0147 and 90.503, Fla. Stat. (2001).

Grim's appellate counsel argues, however, that any privilege was waived when Dr. Larson was deposed on May 16, 2000 - some seven months before the Spencer hearing. Grim himself apparently was not present at this deposition. However, his counsel did waive any privilege that may "attach to Dr. Larson's divulging what he did, in fact, discuss with Mr. Grim, with the exception of the details

¹⁶ If the court could ignore the defendant's confidentiality rights, it would not need to appoint special counsel; the court could simply call trial counsel as a witness.

of the event" (depo 121). When special counsel Kypreos mentioned the depositions, Grim objected, claiming that when he had spoken with Dr. Larson, "it was with the understanding that the attorney-client privilege and the doctor-patient privilege applied" (4R 559). He insisted that he had not waived the privilege and objected to the court considering Dr. Larson's information (4R 559). The court noted the objection, but allowed special counsel to rely on matters contained in the deposition, in light of trial counsel's limited waiver as expressed at the deposition (4R 559).

Grim refused to waive any privileged communications not already divulged, announcing that he did not want any privileged communications between himself, his attorneys, and his "several doctors" to be part of any record, and that he "would not cooperate with any independent counsel [the court] appointed as far as privileged communication" (5T 830-31). Trial counsel confirmed that Grim did not want Dr. Larson's final conclusions to be divulged (5T 834-36, 837-38). Therefore, trial counsel could not "recite to the court [the] specifics of the testimony that Dr. Larson would have presented by virtue of their protection under the attorney/client or psychotherapist privilege" (5T 838).

In view of all this, it simply cannot be said that Grim waived his privilege with respect to Dr. Larson except to the limited extent that matters had been divulged in Dr. Larson's pre-trial deposition. See <u>Courville v. Promedoo</u>, 743 So.2d 41 (Fla. 2d DCA

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